EUROPEAN ORGANISATION FOR NUCLEAR RESEARCH (CERN)





Measurement of the $t\bar{t}$ production cross-section in *p p* collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV with the ATLAS detector

The ATLAS Collaboration

The inclusive top-quark pair $(t\bar{t})$ production cross-section $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ is measured in proton–proton collisions at a centre-of-mass energy $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV, using 257 pb⁻¹ of data collected in 2017 by the ATLAS experiment at the LHC. The $t\bar{t}$ cross-section is measured in both the dilepton and single-lepton final states of the $t\bar{t}$ system and then combined. The combination of the two measurements yields

 $\sigma_{t\bar{t}} = 67.5 \pm 0.9 \text{ (stat.)} \pm 2.3 \text{ (syst.)} \pm 1.1 \text{ (lumi.)} \pm 0.2 \text{ (beam) pb},$

where the four uncertainties reflect the limited size of the data sample, experimental and theoretical systematic effects, and imperfect knowledge of both the integrated luminosity and the LHC beam energy, giving a total uncertainty of 3.9%. The result is in agreement with theoretical quantum chromodynamic calculations at next-to-next-to-leading order in the strong coupling constant, including the resummation of next-to-next-to-leading logarithmic soft-gluon terms, and constrains the parton distribution functions of the proton at large Bjorken-x.

© 2022 CERN for the benefit of the ATLAS Collaboration.

Reproduction of this article or parts of it is allowed as specified in the CC-BY-4.0 license.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	ATLAS detector	3
3	Event samples	4
4	Event reconstruction	5
5	Dilepton cross-section measurement	7
6	Single-lepton cross-section measurement	9
7	Systematic uncertainties	12
	7.1 Modelling uncertainties	12
	7.2 Detector-related uncertainties	16
8	Results	
9	Combined cross-section and comparison with predictions	21
10) Conclusion	24

1 Introduction

The study of top quark–antiquark ($t\bar{t}$) production in proton–proton (pp) collisions forms a central part of the physics programme of the ATLAS experiment at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC). Measurements of the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross-section $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ allow studies of quantum chromodynamics (QCD) at some of the highest accessible energy scales. Predictions for $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ in pp collisions are available at next-to-next-to-leading-order (NNLO) accuracy in the strong coupling constant α_s , including the resummation of next-to-next-to-leading logarithmic (NNLL) soft-gluon terms [1–6]. These predictions are in excellent agreement with measurements from the ATLAS, CMS, and LHCb collaborations at $\sqrt{s} = 7$, 8, and 13 TeV [7–16].

During the data-taking period from 2015 to 2018, known as Run 2, the LHC provided samples of pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV, primarily to support the heavy-ion physics programme, but also to measure Standard Model (SM) physics processes in this intermediate energy regime. For $t\bar{t}$ production, the lower \sqrt{s} value increases the fraction of $q\bar{q}$ -initiated events from 11% at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV to about 25%, making this data complementary to the larger samples at higher centre-of-mass energies and offering the potential for additional constraints on parton distribution functions (PDFs). Assuming a top-quark mass of $m_t = 172.5$ GeV, the NNLO+NNLL prediction for $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV calculated with the ToP++ program [17] is $68.2 \pm 4.8^{+1.9}_{-2.3}$ pb, where the first uncertainty corresponds to PDF and α_s uncertainties and the second to QCD scale variations. The PDF and α_s uncertainties were calculated using the PDF4LHC prescription [18] with the MSTW2008 [19, 20], CT10NNLO [21, 22], and NNPDF2.3 5F FFN [23] PDF sets. The scale uncertainties were calculated from an envelope of predictions with the QCD renormalisation and factorisation scales increased and decreased independently by a factor of two from their default values of $\mu_r = \mu_f = m_t$ [24, 25], while never letting the scales differ by more than a factor of two from each other.

The total uncertainty corresponds to a relative precision of $^{+7.5}_{-7.7}$ %. The cross-section further varies by $^{-3.2}_{+3.3}$ % for a ±1 GeV variation in m_t . The prediction agrees well with a measurement of 63.0 ± 5.1 pb from the CMS Collaboration using data samples at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV of 302 pb⁻¹ recorded in 2017 and 27 pb⁻¹ recorded in 2015 [26].

This paper reports a measurement of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV using a 257 pb⁻¹ data sample recorded by the ATLAS Collaboration in 2017. The measurement was performed in both the dilepton and single-lepton channels of the $t\bar{t}$ decay. The dilepton-channel final states are those where the W bosons from both top quarks decay leptonically, i.e. $t\bar{t} \to W^+ b W^- \bar{b} \to \ell \ell' v \bar{v} b \bar{b}$, where ℓ and ℓ' represent an electron or muon, including those produced in leptonic decays of τ -leptons ($W \to \tau \to \ell$). Event samples with an opposite-charge pair of leptons, transverse-momentum imbalance arising from the presence of two neutrinos, and one or two jets tagged as likely to contain b-hadrons were used to measure the rate of $t\bar{t}$ production in the dilepton channel, which is characterised by high $t\bar{t}$ purity but has a relatively small number of selected events. This technique is similar to that used in measurements of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ using $e\mu$ events [7, 9] but also exploits the same-flavour *ee* and $\mu\mu$ events. The single-lepton final states are those where one W boson decays leptonically and the other decays hadronically. This results in a final state characterised by a charged lepton, transverse-momentum imbalance arising from a neutrino, two jets from the bottom quarks, and two or more jets arising from the hadronisation of the W-boson decay products. The single-lepton event samples were defined by requiring a charged lepton ℓ , missing transverse momentum indicating a neutrino, and two or more jets with at least one of the jets tagged as being likely to contain a b-hadron. The single-lepton sample was separated into subsamples with different signal-to-background ratios, increasing the precision of the measurement. The measurement also used a multivariate technique to further separate the $t\bar{t}$ signal from background events, using techniques similar to those used in $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ measurements at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV [10]. This approach combined the separation power of several variables and their correlations. Finally, the dilepton and single-lepton measurements were combined, taking the correlated systematic uncertainties into account.

This paper is structured as follows. The ATLAS detector is described in Section 2, followed by the data and simulation samples used in the analysis in Section 3, and the event reconstruction in Section 4. The dilepton measurement is described in Section 5 while the single-lepton measurement is described in Section 6. Systematic uncertainties associated with the measurements are described in Section 7 and the results of the individual channels are reported in Section 8. The combined cross-section measurement is presented in Section 9, together with a comparison with predictions from various PDF sets, and an illustration of how the gluon PDF is affected by including this measurement in the ATLAS PDF fits. The conclusions of this study are summarised in Section 10.

2 ATLAS detector

The ATLAS detector [27] at the LHC is centred on the pp collision point and covers nearly the whole 4π solid angle.¹ It consists of an inner tracking detector surrounded by a 2T superconducting solenoid, electromagnetic and hadronic calorimeters, and a muon spectrometer incorporating three large superconducting toroid magnets.

¹ ATLAS uses a right-handed coordinate system with its origin at the nominal interaction point (IP) in the centre of the detector and the *z*-axis along the beam line. The *x*-axis points from the IP to the centre of the LHC ring, and the *y*-axis points upwards. Cylindrical coordinates (r, ϕ) are used in the transverse plane, ϕ being the azimuthal angle around the *z*-axis. The pseudorapidity is defined in terms of the polar angle θ as $\eta = -\ln \tan(\theta/2)$. Angular distance is measured in units of $\Delta R \equiv \sqrt{(\Delta \eta)^2 + (\Delta \phi)^2}$.

The inner detector, including the insertable B-layer added as a new innermost layer in 2014 [28, 29], provides charged-particle tracking information from silicon pixel and microstrip detectors in the pseudorapidity range $|\eta| < 2.5$ and a transition radiation tracker covering $|\eta| < 2.0$.

The calorimeter system covers the pseudorapidity range $|\eta| < 4.9$ and measures the positions and energies of electrons, photons, and charged and neutral hadrons. Within the region $|\eta| < 3.2$, electromagnetic calorimetry is provided by barrel and endcap high-granularity lead and liquid-argon sampling calorimeters. The hadronic sampling calorimeter uses either scintillator tiles or liquid argon as active material and steel, copper or tungsten as absorber.

The muon spectrometer comprises separate trigger and high-precision tracking chambers measuring the tracks of muons in a magnetic field generated by superconducting air-core toroid magnets. The precision chamber system covers the region $|\eta| < 2.7$, while the muon trigger system covers the range $|\eta| < 2.4$.

A two-level trigger system is used to select which events to save for offline analysis [30]. The first level is implemented in hardware/firmware and uses a subset of the detector information to reduce the event rate from the 40 MHz proton bunch crossings to less than 100 kHz. This is followed by a software-based high-level trigger that reduces the event rate to approximately 1 kHz. An extensive software suite [31] is used in the reconstruction and analysis of real and simulated data, in detector operations, and in the trigger and data acquisition systems of the experiment.

3 Event samples

The analysis was performed on pp collision data collected at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV in November 2017 by the ATLAS detector, with an integrated luminosity of 257 pb⁻¹ after data quality requirements [32]. Events were required to pass either a single-electron or a single-muon trigger, both of which are fully efficient for leptons with an offline-reconstructed transverse momentum $p_T > 15$ GeV [33, 34]. Most triggered events also included signals from additional inelastic pp collisions in the same bunch crossing, referred to as pileup. The mean number of inelastic pp collisions per bunch crossing $\langle \mu \rangle$ varied between about 0.5 and 4, with an average of $\langle \mu \rangle \approx 2$ [35].

Monte Carlo (MC) simulated event samples were used to develop the analysis procedures, evaluate signal and background contributions, and compare the predicted distributions with data. All samples were processed using the full ATLAS detector simulation [36] based on the GEANT4 framework [37]. The effects of pileup were simulated by generating additional inelastic pp collisions with the PYTHIA 8.186 event generator [38] using the A3 set of parameter values (tune) [39] and overlaying them on the primary simulated events. These combined events were then processed using the same reconstruction and analysis chain as the data. As discussed in Section 7.2, small corrections derived from comparisons of data and simulation at both $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV and $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV were applied to the simulated lepton-trigger and reconstruction efficiencies to improve agreement with the response observed in data.

The simulation samples were created using event-generator configurations similar to those developed for the analysis of $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV data [9, 10]. The nominal simulated $t\bar{t}$ sample was produced using the NLO event generator PowHeg Box v2 [40–43] with the NNPDF3.0NLO PDF set [44] and employed the PYTHIA 8.210 model with the NNPDF2.3LO PDF set and the A14 tune [45] for the parton-shower, hadronisation, and underlying-event modelling. In the PowHeg configuration, the cut-off scale for the first gluon emission (represented by the h_{damp} parameter) was set to $\frac{3}{2}m_t$ and the factorisation (μ_f) and renormalisation (μ_r)

scales were set to $\mu_{\rm f} = \mu_{\rm r} = \sqrt{m_t^2 + p_{{\rm T},t}^2}$, where the top-quark transverse momentum $(p_{{\rm T},t})$ is evaluated before radiation [46].

Alternative $t\bar{t}$ simulation samples were generated in order to assess systematic uncertainties. One sample used the PowHEG MC generator with the HERWIG 7.1.6 parton-shower and hadronisation model [47, 48] employing the H7UE tune [48]. Another sample was generated using the MADGRAPH5_AMC@NLO 2.3.3.p1 generator (referred to hereafter as AMC@NLO) [49] with the NNPDF3.0NLO PDF set while using the PYTHIA 8 parton-shower and hadronisation model. Uncertainties in the amount of parton-shower radiation were evaluated by reweighting the nominal $t\bar{t}$ sample so as to effectively change QCD scales and shower parameters, and by generating an additional POWHEG+PYTHIA8 sample with $h_{damp} = 3m_t$. The top-quark mass was set to 172.5 GeV in all top-quark samples, and the EVTGEN program [50] was used to handle the decays of *b*- and *c*-flavoured hadrons. All samples were normalised using the NNLO+NNLL $t\bar{t}$ cross-section prediction discussed in Section 1.

The backgrounds in these analyses arise from single-top-quark production, *W* and *Z* bosons produced in association with hadronic jets, and diboson production. The *t*-channel, *s*-channel, and *Wt* associated production processes for single top quarks were simulated using the POWHEG v2 [51, 52] generator with the NNPDF3.0NLO PDF set and employing PYTHIA 8 with the A14 tune as the parton-shower and hadronisation model. The diagram removal scheme [53] was used to handle the interference between the $t\bar{t}$ and Wt final states. The *Wt* sample was normalised to a cross-section of 6.05 ± 0.57 pb, obtained by extrapolating [54] the approximate NNLO calculation [55, 56] using the MSTW2008 NNLO PDF set [19, 20] to $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV, and taking into account PDF and QCD scale uncertainties. The *t*- and *s*-channel samples were normalised to the cross-section predictions from the HATHOR [57] NLO MC generator, and the uncertainties were conservatively taken to be 9.5% for both processes, the same as for *Wt*. Two alternative *Wt* samples were generated: one using the POWHEG HC generator but with the diagram subtraction scheme [52, 58] and the other using the POWHEG MC generator with the HERWIG 7.1.6 parton-shower and hadronisation model employing the H7UE tune. A *t*-channel sample using the POWHEG+HERWIG7.1.6 scheme similar to the alternative *Wt* sample was also generated.

The Z + jets and W+ jets events were simulated with the SHERPA 2.2.5 generator [59] using NLO matrix elements for up to two partons, and LO matrix elements for up to four partons, as discussed in Ref. [10]. The samples were generated using the NNPDF3.0NLO PDF set and normalised using an NNLO cross-section prediction [60]. Alternative Z + jets samples were generated using the POWHEG+PYTHIA8 event generator. Smaller backgrounds from diboson production (WW, WZ, and ZZ) with additional jets were simulated using the SHERPA 2.1.1 [61] generator with the CT10 PDF set [21], as discussed in Ref. [62].

4 Event reconstruction

The dilepton and single-lepton measurements made use of reconstructed electrons, muons and jets, as well as the momentum imbalance in the transverse plane to infer the presence of neutrinos.

Electron candidates were reconstructed from a localised cluster of energy deposits in the electromagnetic calorimeter matched to a track in the inner detector and passing the 'Medium' likelihood-based requirements of Ref. [63]. They were further required to have transverse momentum $p_T > 18$ GeV and pseudorapidity $|\eta| < 2.47$. Only the dilepton measurement included electrons reconstructed in the transition region $1.37 < |\eta| < 1.52$ between the barrel and endcap electromagnetic calorimeters, to increase the reconstruction efficiencies for the final states with electrons. Electrons were also required to satisfy requirements on the

transverse impact-parameter significance calculated relative to the beam line of $|d_0|/\sigma_{d_0} < 5$ and on the longitudinal impact parameter Δz_0 calculated relative to the event primary vertex of $|\Delta z_0 \sin \theta| < 0.5$ mm, where θ is the polar angle of the track. A vertex was defined as having at least two associated tracks with $p_T > 0.5$ GeV and the primary vertex of an event was the vertex with the highest sum of p_T^2 of the associated tracks. To reduce background from misidentified and non-prompt electrons, the electron candidates were required to be isolated using requirements on the summed calorimeter energy within a cone of size $\Delta R = 0.2$ around the electron cluster and on the sum of track p_T within a cone of variable size $\Delta R = \min(0.2, 10 \text{ GeV}/p_T(e))$ around the electron track direction, both divided by the electron p_T .

Muon candidates were reconstructed by combining matching tracks reconstructed in the inner detector and the muon spectrometer, and were required to satisfy the 'Medium' requirements of Ref. [64]. The muon candidates were also required to have $p_T > 18$ GeV and $|\eta| < 2.5$, and to be isolated using the same calorimeter isolation variable as the electrons and a track-based isolation requirement based on a cone of size $\Delta R = \min(0.3, 10 \text{ GeV}/p_T(\mu))$. Requirements on the muon-candidate track's impact parameters similar to those of the electron candidates were made for the single-lepton measurement only.

Jets were reconstructed using the anti- k_t algorithm [65, 66] with radius parameter R = 0.4. Particle-flow objects that combine information from topological clusters of calorimeter energy deposits and inner-detector tracks [67] were used during reconstruction, and were calibrated according to the standard calibration used for $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV high-pileup data [68]. An additional calibration specific to the $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV pp data sample was performed to account for the modified calorimeter thresholds used for this low-pileup data sample. This calibration used a sample of Z + jet events to determine a correction to the p_T scale for the jets as a function of jet p_T and η . The p_T of the well-measured $Z \rightarrow \ell^+ \ell^-$ system was compared with the p_T of the jet recoiling opposite the Z boson in azimuth. The correction to the jet energy scale was typically 2%–8%. Jets were required to have $|\eta| < 2.5$, and $p_T > 25$ GeV for the dilepton selection and $p_T > 20$ GeV for the single-lepton selection, corresponding to the optimal requirements for each analysis. Jets with $p_T < 60$ GeV and $|\eta| < 2.4$ were subject to additional pileup rejection criteria using a multivariate jet-vertex tagger [69].

To prevent the double-counting of electron energy deposits as jets, the closest jet to an electron candidate was removed if it was within $\Delta R_y = 0.2$ of the electron, where $\Delta R_y = \sqrt{(\Delta y)^2 + (\Delta \phi)^2}$ and Δy is the difference in rapidity between the jet and the electron. Furthermore, to reduce the contribution of leptons from heavy-flavour hadron decays inside jets, leptons within $\Delta R_y = 0.4$ of selected jets were discarded, unless the lepton was a muon and the jet had fewer than three associated tracks, in which case the jet was discarded.

Jets likely to contain *b*-hadrons were tagged using the DL1r algorithm [70], a multivariate discriminant based on deep-learning techniques making use of track impact parameters and reconstructed secondary vertices. A tagger working point with 85% efficiency for tagging *b*-quark jets from top-quark decays in simulated $t\bar{t}$ events was used for the dilepton-event selection, corresponding to rejection factors of about 3 against charm jets and 40 against light-quark and gluon jets. A tighter working point with 70% efficiency was used in the single-lepton channel with rejection factors of 6 against charm jets and 200 against light-quark and gluon jets.

The missing transverse momentum was reconstructed as the negative vector sum of the transverse momenta of all identified physics objects (electrons, muons, and jets), together with a 'soft term' built from all tracks associated with the reconstructed primary vertex but not with any of the identified physics objects [71]. The magnitude of the missing transverse momentum is denoted by $E_{\rm T}^{\rm miss}$.

5 Dilepton cross-section measurement

Selected events in the dilepton channel were required to have exactly two opposite-charge lepton candidates with at least one lepton matched to a corresponding electron or muon trigger. Events with no reconstructed primary vertex, with an electron and muon separated in angle by $|\Delta\theta| < 0.15$ and $|\Delta\phi| < 0.15$, or where at least one jet with $p_T > 20$ GeV failed quality requirements [72], were rejected. In the $e\mu$ channel, the dilepton invariant mass $m_{\ell\ell}$ was required to satisfy $m_{\ell\ell} > 15$ GeV. In the same-flavour channels (*ee* and $\mu\mu$), a tighter requirement of $m_{\ell\ell} > 40$ GeV was imposed in order to match the phase space of the Z + jets simulation sample, and the Z + jets background was reduced by requiring $E_T^{\text{miss}} > 30$ GeV. In all channels, selected events were further required to have exactly one or exactly two *b*-tagged jets, irrespective of the number of untagged jets present.

In the $e\mu$ channel, the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross-section was determined from the number of opposite-charge events with one (N_1) or two (N_2) *b*-tagged jets using the formalism of Refs. [7, 9]. The two event counts satisfy the tagging equations

$$N_{1}^{e\mu} = L\sigma_{t\bar{t}} \epsilon_{e\mu} 2\epsilon_{b}^{e\mu} (1 - C_{b}^{e\mu} \epsilon_{b}^{e\mu}) + \sum_{\substack{k=bkg \ s_{1}}} s_{1}^{k} N_{1}^{e\mu,k} \text{ and}$$

$$N_{2}^{e\mu} = L\sigma_{t\bar{t}} \epsilon_{e\mu} C_{b}^{e\mu} (\epsilon_{b}^{e\mu})^{2} + \sum_{\substack{k=bkg \ s_{2}}} s_{2}^{k} N_{2}^{e\mu,k}, \qquad (1)$$

where *L* is the integrated luminosity of the sample, $\epsilon_{e\mu}$ is the efficiency for a $t\bar{t}$ event to pass the opposite-charge $e\mu$ selection (including the $W \to \ell v$ branching ratios), and $C_b^{e\mu}$ is a tagging correlation coefficient close to unity. The combined probability for a jet from the quark *q* in the $t \to Wq$ decay to fall within the acceptance of the detector, be reconstructed as a jet with transverse momentum above the selection threshold, and be tagged as a *b*-jet is denoted by $\epsilon_b^{e\mu}$. The correlation coefficient $C_b^{e\mu}$ is defined by $\epsilon_{bb}^{e\mu}/(\epsilon_b^{e\mu})^2$, where $\epsilon_{bb}^{e\mu}$ is the probability to reconstruct and tag both *b*-jets from the top-quark decays. In practice, it was evaluated from simulation as $C_b^{e\mu} = 4N_{e\mu}^{e\mu}N_2^{t\bar{t}}/(N_1^{t\bar{t}} + 2N_2^{t\bar{t}})^2$, where $N_{e\mu}^{t\bar{t}}$ is the number of selected $e\mu t\bar{t}$ events and $N_1^{t\bar{t}}$ and $N_2^{t\bar{t}}$ are the numbers of such events with one and two *b*-tagged jets. Evaluated in this way, it also accounts for extra *b*-tagged jets from mistagged light jets, and extra heavy-flavour jets in the $t\bar{t}$ event. In the baseline $t\bar{t}$ simulation, $\epsilon_{e\mu} \approx 1.35\%$, compared to the $t\bar{t} \to e\mu X$ branching ratio of 3.2% including the $W \to \tau \to e/\mu$ contributions, and $C_b^{e\mu} \approx 1.011$, indicating a small positive correlation between the reconstruction and *b*-tagging of the two jets produced in the top-quark decays. Background from sources other than $t\bar{t}$ events with two prompt leptons also contributes to the event counts N_1 and N_2 in Eqs. (1). It was divided into four sources indexed by *k*: Wt events, Z + jets events, diboson events, and events with one or two *b*-tagged jets.

This formalism was extended to the same-flavour channels by also exploiting the invariant mass $m_{\ell\ell}$ of the lepton pair to provide discrimination against the dominant Z + jets background. The events were divided into six bins of $m_{\ell\ell}$ indexed by subscript m, with lower bin boundaries at 40, 71, 81, 101, 111 and 151 GeV, the last bin including all events with $m_{\ell\ell} > 151$ GeV. The numbers of opposite-charge $\ell\ell$ events in each bin m with one and two b-tagged jets, $N_{1,m}^{\ell\ell}$ and $N_{2,m}^{\ell\ell}$ can then be expressed as

$$N_{1,m}^{\ell\ell} = L\sigma_{t\bar{t}} \epsilon_{\ell\ell} 2\epsilon_b^{\ell\ell} (1 - C_b^{\ell\ell} \epsilon_b^{\ell\ell}) f_{1,m}^{\ell\ell,t\bar{t}} + \sum_{\substack{k=bkg}} s_1^k f_{1,m}^{\ell\ell,k} N_1^{\ell\ell,k} \text{ and}$$

$$N_{2,m}^{\ell\ell} = L\sigma_{t\bar{t}} \epsilon_{\ell\ell} C_b^{\ell\ell} (\epsilon_b^{\ell\ell})^2 f_{2,m}^{\ell\ell,t\bar{t}} + \sum_{\substack{k=bkg}} s_2^k f_{2,m}^{\ell\ell,k} N_2^{\ell\ell,k},$$
(2)

with separate selection efficiencies $\epsilon_{\ell\ell}$ and correlation coefficients $C_b^{\ell\ell}$ for each same-flavour channel $(\ell\ell = ee \text{ or } \mu\mu)$. The coefficients $f_{1,m}^{\ell\ell,k}$ and $f_{2,m}^{\ell\ell,k}$ represent the integrals of the $m_{\ell\ell}$ distributions, giving the fractions of events for each dilepton flavour, background source and *b*-tagged jet multiplicity that appear in each mass bin. The estimated total numbers of background events for each source *k* were scaled by s_1^k and s_2^k , whose values were taken to be common to all three dilepton channels. In the baseline $t\bar{t}$ simulation, $\epsilon_{ee} \approx 0.48\%$ and $\epsilon_{\mu\mu} \approx 0.55\%$, compared to the $t\bar{t} \to \ell\ell$ branching ratio of 1.6% for a single lepton flavour ℓ including $W \to \tau \to \ell$, and the $C_b^{\ell\ell}$ values are compatible with that of the $e\mu$ channel.

The $t\bar{t}$ cross-section was determined by comparing the observed event counts N_1 and N_2 for the $e\mu$ channel, and the observed counts in each dilepton mass bin $N_{1,m}^{\ell\ell}$ and $N_{2,m}^{\ell\ell}$ for each of the same-flavour channels, with the predictions from Eqs. (1) and (2), maximising a likelihood consisting of the product of Poisson probabilities for each event count. The values of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$, $\epsilon_b^{\ell\ell'}$ for each dilepton flavour (with $\ell\ell' = ee$, $e\mu$, or $\mu\mu$), and s_1^k and s_2^k for the Z + jets background (referred to as R_1^Z and R_2^Z below) were left free in the fit. This choice allows the level of Z + b-tagged-jet background, which has large uncertainties when predicted from simulation, to be determined from data. The values of s_1^k and s_2^k for all other background sources were fixed to unity, as these backgrounds are either small, or in the case of Wt, well predicted by simulation. All other parameters, i.e. $\epsilon_{\ell\ell'}$ and $C_b^{\ell\ell'}$, and $N_i^{\ell\mu,k}$ and $N_i^{\ell\ell,k}$, $f_{i,m}^{\ell\ell,t\bar{t}}$ and $f_{i,m}^{\ell\ell,k}$ (with $\ell\ell = ee$ or $\mu\mu$), were determined from simulation, with systematic uncertainties taken into account as discussed in Section 7.

This maximum-likelihood fit determines the product of *b*-tagging efficiencies and jet acceptance $(\epsilon_b^{\ell\ell'})$ for all three dilepton channels largely from data, minimising the dependence on the modelling of jets in the same way as in the pure $e\mu$ -based analyses of Refs. [7, 9]. The normalisation of the Z + jets background in all channels was determined from the fits to the $m_{\ell\ell}$ distribution in the same-flavour channels, minimising the dependence on the modelling of heavy-flavour jets produced in association with a Z boson. The backgrounds from Wt and diboson events, and the small background from events with misidentified leptons, were determined from simulation. The analysis procedure was validated using simulation-based pseudo-experiments with various input $t\bar{t}$ cross-section values. These tests verified that the fit is unbiased and gives correct uncertainty estimates.

Figure 1 shows the *b*-tagged-jet multiplicity in the $e\mu$ channel, and in the same-flavour channels away from the peak of the *Z* resonance ($|m_{\ell\ell} - m_Z| > 10$ GeV, referred to as off-*Z*), comparing the data with the simulation prediction. In the $e\mu$ channel, the one and two *b*-tagged-jet samples are expected from simulation to be about 80% and 96% pure in $t\bar{t}$ events, assuming a $t\bar{t}$ cross-section of 68.2 pb, and the largest background comes from Wt events. The backgrounds from Z + jets are much larger in the same-flavour samples even off the *Z* resonance, where the average $t\bar{t}$ purities are about 60% and 94% for one and two *b*-tagged jet events. Near the peak of the *Z* resonance, the *Z* + jets contributions are even larger. The $t\bar{t}$ simulation describes the data well, except for a data excess in the zero *b*-tagged-jet bins of both the $e\mu$ and same-flavour channels that has also been seen at other centre-of-mass energies [7, 9]. However, zero *b*-tagged-jet events are not used in the fit, and this discrepancy has no effect on the analysis. Figure 2 shows the lepton transverse momentum, pseudorapidity, and E_{T}^{miss} distributions for $e\mu$ and off-*Z* same-flavour events. The total prediction is normalised to the same number of selected events as in the data, to focus on shape comparisons. In general, the description of the data by the simulation is good, given the limited size of the data sample.



Figure 1: Distributions of the number of *b*-tagged jets in selected opposite-charge events in (a) the $e\mu$ channel and (b) the combined ee and $\mu\mu$ same-flavour channels, additionally requiring $|m_{\ell\ell} - m_Z| > 10$ GeV. The data are compared with the prediction from simulation normalised to the same integrated luminosity as the data. The expected contributions of $t\bar{t}$, Wt, Z + jets, dibosons and events with misidentified electrons or muons are shown separately. The lower panels of the figure show the ratios of data to simulation, with the error bars indicating the statistical uncertainty.

6 Single-lepton cross-section measurement

The single-lepton final state arising from $t\bar{t}$ decay is characterised by a charged lepton, a neutrino, and high jet multiplicity with several *b*-tagged jets. The primary backgrounds in this final state arise from *W*+ jets production, *Z* + jets production, *Wt* associated single-top-quark production, misidentified and non-prompt leptons, and diboson production.

Selected events in the single-lepton channel of the $t\bar{t}$ decay were required to have exactly one electron or muon candidate with $p_T > 25$ GeV, $E_T^{\text{miss}} > 30$ GeV, and two or more jets with at least one of the jets being *b*-tagged. The minimum lepton p_T requirement is higher than in the dilepton analysis because of the larger background from misidentified leptons. Cuts on the transverse mass² of the *W* boson, m_T^W , and E_T^{miss} were applied depending on the number of jets in an event in order to reduce the non-prompt lepton background. Events with two, three, or four jets were required to have $m_T^W > 30$ GeV, as were events with five or more jets where one of the jets was *b*-tagged. Events with five or more jets and at least two of these being *b*-tagged were required to pass the looser requirement $E_T^{\text{miss}} + m_T^W > 60$ GeV. Figure 3 shows the jet multiplicity and *b*-tagged jet multiplicity distributions of the events passing this selection. The predicted backgrounds and the expected $t\bar{t}$ contribution assuming a cross-section of 68.2 pb are also shown. The total prediction is found to be in excellent agreement with data.

The W+ jets, Z + jets, single-top-quark, and diboson backgrounds were modelled using the MC samples described in Section 3. The backgrounds arising from misidentified leptons were determined using a 'matrix method' technique [73]. Events were selected using looser isolation or identification requirements for the lepton and were then weighted according to the efficiencies for both the prompt and background (misidentified and non-prompt) leptons to pass the tighter baseline selection. In order to validate the

 $^{{}^{2}} m_{\rm T}^{W} = \sqrt{2p_{\rm T}^{\ell}E_{\rm T}^{\rm miss}} (1 - \cos \phi)$, where $p_{\rm T}^{\ell}$ is the transverse momentum of the charged lepton and ϕ is the opening azimuthal angle between the charged lepton and the missing transverse momentum.



Figure 2: Distributions of (a, b) the lepton transverse momentum, (c, d) the absolute value of the lepton pseudorapidity, and (e, f) the missing transverse momentum for opposite-charge dilepton events with at least one *b*-tagged jet. The left column (a, c, e) shows selected $e\mu$ events and the right column (b, d, f) shows selected same-flavour events with an additional requirement of $|m_{\ell\ell} - m_Z| > 10$ GeV. The same-flavour requirement of $E_T^{miss} > 30$ GeV is not applied in (f). The data are compared with the prediction from simulation normalised to the same number of selected events as the data, and the expected contributions from $t\bar{t}$, Wt, Z + jets, dibosons, and events with misidentified electrons or muons are shown separately. The last bin includes the overflows in the p_T and E_T^{miss} distributions.

method, the predictions were compared with data in two dedicated validation regions with a larger fraction of misidentified-lepton candidates than expected in the analysis regions. Good agreement between data and the prediction in these validation regions was found.

Events passing the selection requirements were further split into six orthogonal regions based on the total number of jets (whether *b*-tagged or not) and the number of *b*-tagged jets: $\ell + 2$ jets and ≥ 1 *b*-tagged jet,



Figure 3: (a) Jet multiplicity and (b) *b*-tagged jet multiplicity distributions in the single-lepton final state. The uncertainties are prior to the fit ('pre-fit') and the last bin contains the overflow. The 'Other bkg.' includes Z + jets and diboson backgrounds. The blue-hashed lines correspond to the total uncertainty of the prediction in a given bin. The lower panels show the ratio of the data to the prediction, along with the uncertainty in the ratio.

	$\ell+2j\geq\!\!1b$	$\ell+3j\;1b$	$\ell+3j\ 2b$	$\ell + {\geq} 4j \ 1b$	$\ell + 4j \; 2b$	$\ell + {\geq} 5j \; 2b$
tī	194 ± 27	310 ± 33	199 ± 24	690 ± 60	318 ± 32	380 ± 60
Single top	195 ± 22	98 ± 12	38 ± 5	67 ± 9	22 ± 4	15.9 ± 2.7
W+ jets	1700 ± 400	690 ± 210	58 ± 23	350 ± 120	30 ± 14	19 ± 10
Other bkg.	110 ± 40	55 ± 23	7.2 ± 3.0	29 ± 12	3.5 ± 1.5	3.7 ± 1.7
Misidentified leptons	250 ± 130	110 ± 60	10 ± 5	60 ± 30	6 ± 3	8 ± 5
Total	2500 ± 400	1260 ± 210	312 ± 34	1200 ± 160	380 ± 40	430 ± 70
Data	2411	1214	293	1135	375	444

Table 1: Estimated event yields in the six regions after passing the selection requirements. The 'Other bkg.' category contains the Z + jets and diboson contributions. The uncertainties in the signal and background yields combine the statistical and systematic uncertainties.

 ℓ + 3 jets and 1 *b*-tagged jet, ℓ + 3 jets and 2 *b*-tagged jets, ℓ + \geq 4 jets and 1 *b*-tagged jet, ℓ + 4 jets and 2 *b*-tagged jets, and ℓ + \geq 5 jets and 2 *b*-tagged jets. This separation created subsamples with different levels of signal and background, which provided additional constraints on the estimated backgrounds. The observed and predicted event yields in the six regions are given in Table 1. The inclusion of the ℓ + 3-jet regions increased the statistical power of the measurement, while the ℓ + 2-jet region was used to improve the background modelling. The total $t\bar{t}$ event selection efficiency integrated across all six regions is ~12%.

The H_T^{had} variable, defined as the scalar sum of the transverse momenta of the jets, was found to provide the single largest signal-to-background separation amongst the many kinematic variables tested. The H_T^{had} distribution is shown in Figure 4 for the six single-lepton regions. The predicted rates and shapes are found to be in good agreement with the observed distributions. To further increase the separation of signal from background, two boosted decision trees (BDT) using six input variables each were created using the Toolkit for Multivariate Analysis (TMVA) [74]. One BDT was trained using MC signal and background events exclusively in the two-jet and three-jet regions $(\ell + 2j \ge 1b, \ell + 3j \ 1b, \ell + 3j \ 2b)$ whereas the second BDT was trained in the four-jet and five-jet regions $(\ell + \ge 4j \ 1b, \ell + 4j \ 2b, \ell + \ge 5j \ 2b)$. In both cases, the variables chosen were ones that were found to individually provide good separation of signal from background and in combination provided greater separation than other choices that were considered. In the first BDT, the six input variables chosen are the $H_{\rm T}^{\rm had}$ variable, the second Fox–Wolfram moment [75] computed using all jets and the lepton (FW2 (1+j)), lepton η , the median ΔR between *b*-tagged jets and the lepton ($\Delta R_{b\ell}$), the median ΔR between two jets (ΔR_{jj}), and the invariant mass of two jets with the smallest $\Delta R \ (m_{jj}^{\min,\Delta R})$. The second BDT uses as input the $H_{\rm T}^{\rm had}$ variable, FW2 (1+j), lepton η , $\Delta R_{b\ell}$, the median ΔR between any two untagged jets (ΔR_{uu}), and the invariant mass of two untagged jets with the smallest $\Delta R \ (m_{uu}^{\min,\Delta R})$. The use of the median ΔR provides more rejection power than other measures of the average separation of *b*-tagged jets and the lepton.

The BDTs were applied to data and simulation events in the regions where they were trained and the resulting distributions of the outputs of the two BDTs used in different jet-multiplicity regions are shown in Figure 5. There is good agreement between the shapes of the BDT output distributions for data and simulation in each region. The BDT output distributions were interpreted by a statistical model that employs the expected distributions for both the background and signal contributions in the six regions. This model was fitted to the observed BDT output distributions in each region to determine $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ as described in Section 8.

7 Systematic uncertainties

The systematic uncertainties in the $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ measurement are broken down into two categories: those arising from the modelling of signal- and background-related processes, and the detector-related uncertainties. Table 3 in Section 9 gives a summary of all uncertainties for the two separate measurements and their combination.

7.1 Modelling uncertainties

Modelling uncertainties arise from the MC predictions of the $t\bar{t}$ signal and the background processes. The $t\bar{t}$ signal has uncertainties arising from the NLO generator, the parton-shower and hadronisation model, initial/final-state radiation (I/FSR), the renormalisation and factorisation scales, the value of the h_{damp} parameter, and the proton PDFs.

The uncertainty due to the choice of NLO generator was assessed by comparing the nominal POWHEG+PYTHIA8 sample with the alternative MADGRAPH5_AMC@NLO+PYTHIA8 sample. Similarly, uncertainties in the parton-shower and hadronisation model were evaluated by comparing the nominal POWHEG+PYTHIA8 sample with the alternative POWHEG+HERWIG7 sample. The uncertainty due to ISR was estimated by using the Var3c A14 tunes, which correspond to variations of α_s for ISR in the A14 tune [45]. Further effects on the ISR were seen when varying the renormalisation and factorisation scales μ_r and μ_f , and the h_{damp} parameter. The renormalisation and factorisation scales were varied independently by factors of 0.5 and 2.0. The uncertainty from the value of h_{damp} was evaluated by comparing the nominal $t\bar{t}$ sample with an alternative sample that has $h_{damp} = 3m_{top}$. The effect of the FSR uncertainties was evaluated



Figure 4: The observed and predicted distributions of H_T^{had} in the (a) $\ell + 2j \ge 1b$ region, (b) $\ell + 3j$ 1*b* region, (c) $\ell + 3j$ 2*b* region, (d) $\ell + \ge 4j$ 1*b* region, (e) $\ell + 4j$ 2*b* region, and (f) $\ell + \ge 5j$ 2*b* region. The pre-fit uncertainties are shown and the last bin contains the overflow. The 'Other bkg.' includes Z + j ets and diboson backgrounds. The blue hashed lines correspond to the total uncertainty of the prediction in a given bin. The lower panels show the ratio of the data to the prediction, along with the uncertainty in the ratio.



Figure 5: Comparison of the data and predicted BDT output distributions for the (a) $\ell + 2j \ge 1b$ region, (b) $\ell + 3j$ 1*b* region, (c) $\ell + 3j$ 2*b* region, (d) $\ell + \ge 4j$ 1*b* region, (e) $\ell + 4j$ 2*b* region, and (f) $\ell + \ge 5j$ 2*b* region. The pre-fit uncertainties are shown. The 'Other bkg.' includes *Z* + jets and diboson backgrounds. The blue hashed lines correspond to the total uncertainty of the prediction in a given bin. The lower panels show the ratio of the data to the prediction, along with the uncertainty in the ratio.

by increasing and decreasing the renormalisation scale for emissions from the parton shower by factors of 0.5 and 2.0. The PDF uncertainties affecting the $t\bar{t}$ signal were evaluated by using the PDF4LHC15 Hessian uncertainties [18]. A similar procedure was used to evaluate the PDF uncertainties affecting the Wt background in the dilepton measurement only.

The predictions for $C_b^{\ell\ell'}$ in the dilepton measurement are sensitive to the fraction of $t\bar{t}$ events with extra $b\bar{b}$ or $c\bar{c}$ pairs, which was found to be underestimated by the nominal POWHEG+PYTHIA8 samples at $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ [9, 76]. The corresponding uncertainty at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02 \text{ TeV}$ was evaluated by reweighting the nominal POWHEG+PYTHIA8 $t\bar{t}$ sample so as to increase the rate of three-*b*-jet events at the generator level by 40%, the value best fitting the $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ data [9]. This variation gives an uncertainty of 0.2% in $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$, and is included as part of the $t\bar{t}$ parton-shower/hadronisation uncertainty in Table 3.

The uncertainties in the cross-sections for the Wt associated, *t*-channel, and *s*-channel single-top-quark background processes were taken to be 9.5% as discussed in Section 3. The uncertainty arising from interference between the $t\bar{t}$ and Wt final states was evaluated by comparing the nominal MC sample generated using the diagram removal scheme with an alternative sample that used the diagram subtraction approach [52, 53, 58]. The uncertainties in the parton-shower and hadronisation model for Wt associated single-top-quark production were evaluated by comparing the nominal POWHEG+PYTHIA8 samples with an alternative POWHEG+HERWIG7 sample. A similar comparison was performed for *t*-channel single-top-quark production in the single-lepton measurement (the effect is negligible in the dilepton measurement). In both measurements, the uncertainties in relevant single-top backgrounds from modelling of ISR, renormalisation and factorisation scales, and FSR were considered in a manner similar to that for $t\bar{t}$ signal.

The W+ jets modelling uncertainties in the single-lepton measurement were evaluated by first splitting the W+ jets background into three categories $W + \ge 1c$, $W + \ge 1b$, and $W + \ge 1q/g$ (light quarks or gluons) based on the flavour of additional jets in the event. In each category the events were further separated into categories with 2, 3, 4, or ≥ 5 jets, and a normalisation uncertainty based on Berends scaling (4% \oplus 24% per jet) [77] was applied for each of the 12 categories. The renormalisation and factorisation scales were varied to estimate additional shape uncertainties for the three categories of W+ jets background.

In the dilepton measurement, the normalisation of the Z + jets background was fitted in the same-flavour channels with a requirement of $E_{\rm T}^{\rm miss}$ > 30 GeV. This normalisation factor was then propagated to the $e\mu$ channel which has no $E_{\rm T}^{\rm miss}$ requirement. Uncertainties in this extrapolation procedure were assessed by comparing the fraction of Z + jets events which have $E_{\rm T}^{\rm miss}$ > 30 GeV in data and simulation. There were 24% more data events than predicted from the simulation sample with one *b*-tagged jet and 19% more events with two *b*-tagged jets when averaging over same-flavour events. These values were taken as additional uncertainties of the Z + jets backgrounds in the $e\mu$ channel. An additional modelling uncertainty from the derivation of the $m_{\ell\ell}$ distributions (i.e. the $f_{1,m}^{\ell\ell,Z+jets}$ and $f_{2,m}^{\ell\ell,Z+jets}$ fractions) using the PowHEG+PYTHIA8 MC samples rather than the SHERPA Z + jets samples was also applied in the dilepton measurement. In the single-lepton measurement, a 50% normalisation uncertainty in the Z + jets background was used to take into account the uncertainties in the cross-section, acceptance and modelling evaluated by varying the normalisation and matching scales in the SHERPA MC prediction.

The uncertainty in the diboson background was conservatively taken to be 20%. This variation accounts for uncertainties in the acceptances, and in the cross-sections calculated using the MCFM MC generator [78].

In the dilepton $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ measurements at $\sqrt{s} = 7$, 8, and 13 TeV, the misidentified-lepton background was found to be well modelled by simulated events. Therefore, simulation was also used to predict the misidentified-lepton background in the $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV dilepton measurement. Variations of 50% and 100%, approximately twice the uncertainties derived at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV [9], were applied to the predicted

misidentified-lepton backgrounds for the one *b*-jet and two *b*-jet samples, respectively. In the single-lepton measurement, the uncertainty in the misidentified-lepton background was first categorised according to the flavour of the misidentified lepton (e or μ) and then further split into shape and normalisation components for each of the six regions, giving 24 individual components. The shape uncertainty was estimated by comparing the nominal misidentified-lepton background sample with a sample that measured the electron-and muon-misidentification rates in an alternative region. A 50% relative uncertainty was used to account for all uncertainties affecting the rate of the misidentified-lepton background [73].

7.2 Detector-related uncertainties

The electron identification efficiency, energy scale, and energy resolution were measured using $Z \rightarrow ee$ events in the $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV data sample using techniques described in Ref. [63]. Uncertainties in the identification were implemented as variations of the corresponding simulation-to-data correction factors. The $Z \rightarrow ee$ sample was also used to assess uncertainties in the modelling of electron-charge misidentification in the dilepton measurement.

The muon identification efficiencies and momentum scale calibration were taken from high-pileup $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV data [64], with additional uncertainties to account for the extrapolation to the low-pileup $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV data.

The efficiencies of the lepton-isolation requirements were determined using tag-and-probe techniques applied to $\sqrt{s} = 5.02 \text{ TeV } Z \rightarrow ee$ and $Z \rightarrow \mu\mu$ events. The differences between the efficiencies measured in data and simulation samples were studied as functions of lepton p_T and η , and the activity around the lepton. Applying these shifts to leptons in simulated $t\bar{t}$ events gave per-lepton efficiency changes of up to +0.4% for electrons and -0.5% for muons. Given the small sizes of these shifts, no corrections were applied to the nominal simulation, and the largest shifts were taken as uncertainties in the efficiencies and background estimates.

The electron-trigger efficiency was measured using a combination of low-pileup datasets recorded at both $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV and $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV. The muon-trigger efficiency was measured using high-pileup $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV data recorded immediately before the low-pileup datasets.

Jets were calibrated using the energy scale determined for $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV high-pileup data [68], with an additional correction to the jet-energy scale derived using the Z + jet $p_{\rm T}$ -balancing technique. The uncertainty of 1%–2% in this correction was incorporated into the systematic uncertainties of the jet-energy scale, including the modelling uncertainty of the Z + jet final state. An uncertainty from the jet-vertex tagger arises from the efficiency correction factors for this algorithm [69].

Predictions for the *b*-tagging efficiency (for the single-lepton measurement), $C_b^{\ell\ell'}$ (for the dilepton measurement) and background rejection were based on studies of $t\bar{t}$ and dijet events at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV [70, 79, 80] and were applied unchanged to the $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV samples. This choice is supported by the values of $\epsilon_b^{\ell\ell'}$ obtained from the dilepton measurement at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV as discussed in Section 8, and from simulation studies which show that the *b*-tagging performance is similar in the two environments.

The uncertainties in the calibrations of leptons and jets discussed above were propagated into the E_T^{miss} calculation along with uncertainties in the modelling of the soft term [71].

The uncertainty in the integrated luminosity is 1.6%, evaluated as discussed in Ref. [81] and using the LUCID-2 detector [82] for the primary luminosity measurement. The corresponding uncertainty in $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ is

larger than 1.6% in the dilepton measurement because the luminosity uncertainty affects the evaluation of the *Wt* and diboson backgrounds from simulation.

The LHC beam energy is known to be within 0.1% of the nominal value based on the LHC magnetic model and comparisons of the revolution frequencies of proton and lead-ion beams [83]. A 0.1% variation in \sqrt{s} corresponds to a 0.3% variation in the predicted $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ according to the NNLO+NNLL predictions of ToP++. This uncertainty is included as a separate uncertainty in $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ to facilitate comparisons with theoretical predictions at exactly $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV.

8 Results

Table 2 and Figure 6 show the results of applying the fit described in Section 5 to the dilepton data sample, comparing the observed event counts with the fit predictions including the $t\bar{t}$ signal component and all backgrounds. In Table 2, the same-flavour channel event counts are divided into those near the peak of the $Z \rightarrow \ell \ell$ resonance ($|m_{\ell\ell} - m_Z| < 10$ GeV and referred to as on-Z) and those off the Z-boson resonance (off-Z), to illustrate the changing background level and composition. The fit describes the data well, with the exception of the Z-boson region in the same-flavour channels with one *b*-tagged jet, as noted earlier. The fitted $t\bar{t}$ production cross-section in the dilepton channel is

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}} = 65.7 \pm 4.5 \text{ (stat.)} \pm 1.6 \text{ (syst.)} \pm 1.2 \text{ (lumi.)} \pm 0.2 \text{ (beam) pb},$$

where the four uncertainties are due to the size of the data sample, experimental and theoretical systematic effects, and imperfect knowledge of both the integrated luminosity and the LHC beam energy. The total uncertainty of 4.9 pb corresponds to a relative uncertainty of 7.5%, of which 6.8% is the data statistical uncertainty. The 'dilepton' column of Table 3 in Section 9 shows a breakdown of the uncertainties. The result is quoted for a top-quark mass of 172.5 GeV, and changes by $\mp 0.2\%$ for a ± 1 GeV change in m_t .

The products of jet acceptance and *b*-tagging efficiencies in the three dilepton channels are $\epsilon_b^{ee} = 0.65 \pm 0.06$, $\epsilon_b^{e\mu} = 0.68 \pm 0.03$, and $\epsilon_b^{\mu\mu} = 0.59 \pm 0.06$. All three values are consistent with each other and the predictions from simulation, validating the modelling of *b*-tagging in the simulation. The scale factors for the *Z* + jets background are $R_1^Z = 1.23 \pm 0.09$ and $R_2^Z = 1.68 \pm 0.52$, suggesting that the SHERPA *Z* + jets simulation slightly underestimates this background. Consistent results were obtained from fits to the $e\mu$ and $ee + \mu\mu$ channels alone, which have total uncertainties of 8.4% and 13.5%, respectively. The result is stable against variations of the E_T^{miss} requirement.

The potential effect of the difference between the Z-boson ee and $\mu\mu$ yields with one *b*-tagged jet visible in Table 2 and Figures 6(a) and 6(d) was addressed by fitting the two same-flavour channels separately. This gave compatible values for $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ and R_2^Z , but a three-standard-deviation discrepancy between the values of R_1^Z fitted in the *ee* and $\mu\mu$ channels. However, this discrepancy disappeared when lowering the E_T^{miss} requirement to $E_T^{\text{miss}} > 20 \text{ GeV}$, which increased the Z + jets background by a factor of three. The inclusive $Z \rightarrow ee$ and $Z \rightarrow \mu\mu$ yields (without requirements on additional jets) were also compared and found to be consistent within 1%, validating the modelling of the electron and muon efficiencies. The difference between the observed and predicted yields seen in Figure 6 was therefore attributed to a statistical fluctuation.

The $t\bar{t}$ cross-section in the single-lepton channel was determined by fitting a model consisting of the estimated background and $t\bar{t}$ signal distributions to the observed BDT distributions in the six regions simultaneously. The likelihood fit incorporated the systematic uncertainties as Gaussian nuisance parameters that modified



Figure 6: Results of the fit to data in the dilepton channel, showing the invariant mass distributions for the one *b*-tagged jet and two *b*-tagged jet samples in the *ee* (top) and $\mu\mu$ (bottom) channels, and the *b*-tagged jet multiplicity in the *e* μ channel (centre). The data are shown by the points with uncertainties, and are compared with the results of the fit, showing the scaled contributions from $t\bar{t}$, Wt, Z + jets, dibosons, and events with misidentified leptons. The total systematic uncertainty of the fit prediction in each bin is shown by the hatched band. The lower panels show the ratios of data to the fit predictions. In the invariant mass distributions, the last bin includes the overflow with $m_{\ell\ell} > 200$ GeV but is normalised to the displayed bin width.

Table 2: Observed numbers of opposite-charge dilepton events with one (upper block) and two (lower block) *b*-tagged jets in data, together with the $t\bar{t}$ and background event counts from the fit prediction, including the associated statistical and systematic uncertainties. The five columns show the *ee* channel with $|m_{\ell\ell} - m_Z| > 10 \text{ GeV}$ (off-*Z*) and $|m_{\ell\ell} - m_Z| < 10 \text{ GeV}$ (on-*Z*), the *eµ* channel, and the *µµ* channel including off-*Z* and on-*Z* contributions. The uncertainty in the total prediction is in some cases smaller than the individual uncertainties due to correlations induced by the fit.

Event counts	$N_{1,\text{off}-Z}^{ee}$	$N_{1,\mathrm{on-Z}}^{ee}$	$N_1^{e\mu}$	$N_{1,\text{off}-Z}^{\mu\mu}$	$N_{1,\text{on-Z}}^{\mu\mu}$
Data	47	113	121	65	106
tī	30.1 ± 3.8	6.0 ± 0.7	95.6 ± 10.0	36.6 ± 3.6	7.5 ± 0.8
Wt single top	4.0 ± 0.6	0.75 ± 0.12	13.9 ± 1.5	4.5 ± 0.5	0.90 ± 0.12
Z + jets	14.7 ± 1.5	80.1 ± 6.0	6.8 ± 1.7	27.1 ± 3.3	111.3 ± 8.8
Diboson	0.83 ± 0.17	2.3 ± 0.5	2.6 ± 0.5	0.90 ± 0.18	2.5 ± 0.5
Misidentified leptons	0.9 ± 0.4	0.05 ± 0.03	1.7 ± 0.8	0.23 ± 0.17	0.16 ± 0.15
Total prediction	50.5 ± 3.7	89.2 ± 5.9	120.6 ± 9.7	69.4 ± 4.7	122.4 ± 8.6
Event counts	$N^{ee}_{2,\mathrm{off-Z}}$	$N^{ee}_{2,\mathrm{on-Z}}$	$N_2^{e\mu}$	$N_{2,\text{off}-Z}^{\mu\mu}$	$N_{2,\text{on-Z}}^{\mu\mu}$
Data	31	15	113	31	17
tī	28.7 ± 5.3	6.0 ± 1.1	107.6 ± 10.3	26.6 ± 5.9	5.5 ± 1.2
Wt single top	0.88 ± 0.15	0.21 ± 0.07	3.0 ± 0.6	1.00 ± 0.27	0.17 ± 0.05
Z + jets	1.2 ± 1.0	8.5 ± 2.6	1.3 ± 0.5	2.8 ± 1.0	11.5 ± 3.8
Diboson	0.06 ± 0.01	0.16 ± 0.03	0.20 ± 0.04	0.06 ± 0.01	0.30 ± 0.06
				1	
Misidentified leptons	0.15 ± 0.15	0.04 ± 0.04	0.6 ± 0.6	0.10 ± 0.11	0.05 ± 0.06

the shape and/or normalisation of the predicted distributions as defined in Section 7. Additional bin-by-bin uncertainties were included to account for the statistical uncertainties in the predicted backgrounds. The fitted background parameters in the model were found to be consistent with their central values, taking into account uncertainties. The results of the fit to the BDT distributions are shown in Figure 7 and confirm that the fit gives a good description of the data distributions. The pulls and constraints of the nuisance parameters were found to be reasonable.

The single-lepton channel fit results in

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}} = 68.2 \pm 0.9 \text{ (stat.)} \pm 2.9 \text{ (syst.)} \pm 1.1 \text{ (lumi.)} \pm 0.2 \text{ (beam) pb.}$$

The $t\bar{t}$ cross-sections at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV measured in the single-lepton and dilepton channels are consistent.

The 'single lepton' column of Table 3 shows a breakdown of the individual uncertainties. The largest contributions to the total uncertainty of 3.1 pb come from modelling of the W+ jets background, the integrated luminosity uncertainty, and the data statistical uncertainty. The result changes by $\pm 2.0\%$ for a ± 1 GeV change in m_t , a larger sensitivity than in the dilepton channel because the simulation is also used to predict the efficiencies of the jet requirements. This result is slightly more precise than the $t\bar{t}$ cross-section measurement in the single-lepton channel at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV [10], despite the much smaller data sample. This arises from the use of six regions and the fit of the shapes of the BDT distributions in each region to constrain the background contributions. It also reflects the fact that both analyses are dominated by systematic uncertainties, and although the non- $t\bar{t}$ backgrounds are larger than at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, the uncertainties due to QCD radiation in $t\bar{t}$ events are less important.



Figure 7: Comparison between data and the results of the fit to the BDT output distributions in the (a) $\ell + 2j \ge 1b$ region, (b) $\ell + 3j$ 1*b* region, (c) $\ell + 3j$ 2*b* region, (d) $\ell + \ge 4j$ 1*b* region, (e) $\ell + 4j$ 2*b* region, and (f) $\ell + \ge 5j$ 2*b* region. The 'Other bkg.' includes *Z* + jets and diboson backgrounds. The bottom panel displays the ratio of data to the total prediction. The hashed area represents the total uncertainty of the background.

9 Combined cross-section and comparison with predictions

The cross-section measurements in the dilepton and single-lepton channels were combined to provide a more precise result. The dilepton measurement used a fit of the $t\bar{t}$ signal, background contributions, and *b*-tagging efficiency, while the single-lepton measurement used a binned profile-likelihood fit, resulting in post-fit uncertainty correlations that must be accounted for in a combination. To combine these two measurements, taking into account their different techniques, the Convino [84] algorithm was used. It minimises a χ^2 with three terms: one encoding the results and the statistical uncertainty of each measurement, the second encoding the correlations between uncertainties in a given measurement, and the third term accounting for the prior knowledge of correlations between the uncertainties of the different measurements.

The prior probabilities (priors) for the correlations between uncertainties in the two measurements were determined by assigning each systematic uncertainty in the combination to one of three categories: unique uncertainties, one-to-one uncertainties, and one-to-many uncertainties. Unique uncertainties are ones that exist only in one of the two measurements, or which are uncorrelated between the two measurements. One-to-one uncertainties are those that affect both measurements in a similar way. Finally, one-to-many uncertainties are the set of uncertainties represented by single nuisance parameters in one measurement and multiple nuisance parameters in the other. The latter category covers most of the $t\bar{t}$ modelling uncertainties, which were represented by a single nuisance parameter in the dilepton analysis and separate nuisance parameters for each of the fit regions in the single-lepton analysis, due to the need to account for uncertainties in the shapes of the BDT input distributions.

This categorisation was used to determine the correlations between the various systematic uncertainties in the Convino minimisation procedure. By definition, unique uncertainties in one measurement are uncorrelated with all other uncertainties. One-to-one uncertainties are fully correlated between the two measurements. The one-to-many uncertainties in this combination were investigated by considering numerous correlation priors between the one nuisance parameter in one channel and the set of nuisance parameters in the other. The results of the combination were found to be insensitive to the prior employed for these one-to-many uncertainties and so the assumption of fully correlated uncertainties was employed in the fit. In the combination, the *b*-tagging uncertainties were treated as one-to-one uncertainties, even though different tagger working points were used in the two measurements.

The $t\bar{t}$ cross-section value at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV obtained from the combination of the dilepton and single-lepton measurements is

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}} = 67.5 \pm 0.9 (\text{stat.}) \pm 2.3 (\text{syst.}) \pm 1.1 (\text{lumi.}) \pm 0.2 (\text{beam}) \text{ pb.}$$

Table 3 shows a breakdown of uncertainties in the individual measurements and the combined result. The combination gives a lower overall uncertainty due to reductions in the signal modelling, electron reconstruction, flavour-tagging, and jet-energy-scale uncertainties. The uncertainties arising from theory and MC modelling are larger than the experimental uncertainties. The combined result changes by $\pm 2.0\%$ for a ± 1 GeV change in m_t .

The combined result is consistent with the NNLO+NNLL QCD prediction of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}} = 68.2^{+5.2}_{-5.3}$ pb discussed in Section 1, and with the CMS Collaboration measurement [26]. The individual and combined ATLAS Collaboration results are compared in Figure 8 with measurements in the $e\mu$ and single-lepton channels at other \sqrt{s} values. Predictions using the CT10 [21], NNPDF2.3 [23], MSTW2008 [19, 20], CT14 [85], and NNPDF3.1_NOTOP [86] PDF sets are also shown. The first three PDF sets do not incorporate any Table 3: Breakdown of uncertainties in the dilepton, single-lepton, and combined measurements of the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross-section at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV. For each category, the dilepton uncertainties are calculated by summing all the contributing uncertainties in quadrature. The single-lepton and combination uncertainties are calculated by fixing the set of nuisance parameters corresponding to a category, repeating the fit, and subtracting in quadrature the resulting uncertainty from the total uncertainty of the nominal fit. Categories that include unique uncertainties, uncorrelated between dilepton and single-lepton measurements, are denoted by *, and those with one-to-many uncertainties by [†] (see text). Other categories include only one-to-one uncertainty sources, correlated between channels. The total uncertainty is the sum in quadrature of the total systematic uncertainty, the statistical uncertainty, and the effects of the uncertainties in the integrated luminosity and beam energy. The systematic uncertainties for the single-lepton and combination measurements do not add up in quadrature to the total systematic uncertainty because of their correlations in the fit.

Category	$\delta\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ [%]		
	Dilepton	Single lepton	Combination
$t\bar{t}$ generator [†]	1.2	1.0	0.8
$t\bar{t}$ parton-shower/hadronisation*, [†]	0.3	0.9	0.7
$t\bar{t}$ $h_{\rm damp}$ and scale variations [†]	1.0	1.1	0.8
$t\bar{t}$ parton distribution functions [†]	0.2	0.2	0.2
Single-top background	1.1	0.8	0.6
W/Z + jets background*	0.8	2.4	1.8
Diboson background	0.3	0.1	< 0.1
Misidentified leptons*	0.7	0.3	0.3
Electron identification/isolation	0.8	1.2	0.8
Electron energy scale/resolution	0.1	0.1	< 0.1
Muon identification/isolation	0.6	0.2	0.3
Muon momentum scale/resolution	0.1	0.1	0.1
Lepton-trigger efficiency	0.2	0.9	0.7
Jet-energy scale/resolution	0.1	1.1	0.8
$\sqrt{s} = 5.02 \text{ TeV JES correction}$	0.1	0.6	0.5
Jet-vertex tagging	< 0.1	0.2	0.2
Flavour tagging	0.1	1.1	0.8
$E_{\mathrm{T}}^{\mathrm{miss}}$	0.1	0.4	0.3
Simulation statistical uncertainty*	0.2	0.6	0.5
Data statistical uncertainty*	6.8	1.3	1.3
Total systematic uncertainty	3.1	4.2	3.7
Integrated luminosity	1.8	1.6	1.6
Beam energy	0.3	0.3	0.3
Total uncertainty	7.5	4.5	3.9

constraints from LHC data, while the last two are PDF sets that use some LHC data but no $t\bar{t}$ cross-section measurements.

Figure 9(a) compares the measured cross-section at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV with the predictions from the aforementioned PDF sets, as well as the MSHT20 [88], NNPDF4.0 [89], ABMP16 [90], CT18 [91] and CT18A [91] PDFs, and the combination of the CT10, MSTW2008, and NNPDF2.3 PDFs using the



Figure 8: The upper panel shows the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross-section $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ as a function of centre-of-mass energy \sqrt{s} , comparing ATLAS Collaboration measurements from this analysis, from the $e\mu$ plus *b*-tagged-jets final state at $\sqrt{s} = 7$, 8, and 13 TeV, and from the single-lepton final state at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ and 13 TeV with NNLO+NNLL theoretical predictions [5] calculated using ToP++ [17] with the PDF4LHC prescription for PDF and α_s uncertainties [87], and $m_t = 172.5$ GeV. The middle panel shows the ratios of the measurements and predictions to the central value of the prediction using PDF4LHC PDFs. The total uncertainties when using the individual NNPDF2.3, MSTW2008 and CT10 PDFs are shown as overlapping hatched or coloured bands, and the dotted lines show the QCD scale uncertainties alone. The lower panel shows the ratios of the measurements made at the same \sqrt{s} are slightly offset for clarity. The $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV results are taken from Refs. [7, 8], with the LHC beam energy uncertainties reduced according to Ref. [83]. The $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV results are taken from Refs. [9, 10].

PDF4LHC recipe. The result is also compared with the recent ATLASPDF21 PDF fit [92], which includes a diverse set of ATLAS Collaboration measurements at $\sqrt{s} = 7$, 8 and 13 TeV (including $t\bar{t}$ differential cross-section measurements at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ and 13 TeV), together with deep-inelastic scattering data from epcollisions at the HERA collider [93]. The measured value is compatible with the predictions from all the PDF sets considered, except for ABMP16, which has a softer gluon distribution and predicts a $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ value 2.2 standard deviations lower than measured.



Figure 9: (a) Measurement of the $t\bar{t}$ production cross-section at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV in the combined dilepton and singlelepton channels compared with the predictions from various NNLO PDF sets. The bands show the experimental measurement, with the statistical (inner yellow band) and total (outer green band) uncertainties shown separately. The last entry shows the prediction using the PDF4LHC recipe, encompassing the predictions from the CT10, MSTW2008 and NNPDF2.3 PDF sets. (b) Ratio of the gluon PDF determined using the data of the ATLASpdf21 PDF fit plus the constraint from the combined $t\bar{t}$ cross-section measurement compared with the ATLASpdf21 fit alone, as a function of Bjorken-*x*. The hatched bands show the uncertainties in the combined fit (blue) and ATLASpdf21 fit (red), and the blue line shows the shift in central value when adding the $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV cross-section measurement.

Figure 9(b) shows the effect of adding the combined $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV $t\bar{t}$ cross-section measurement to the ATLASPDF21 PDF fit. The combination was performed using the xFitter framework [94] as described in Ref. [92]. At a squared-momentum-transfer value of $Q^2 = 10^4$ GeV², the addition of the new data reduces the gluon PDF uncertainty in the region of Bjorken-*x* (the fraction of the proton momentum carried by the parton participating in the initial interaction) above $x \approx 0.05$, and gives e.g. a 5% reduction at x = 0.1. The uncertainties in the valance and sea quark PDFs are unaffected.

10 Conclusion

The inclusive $t\bar{t}$ production cross-section $\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$ has been measured in *pp* collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV using 257 pb⁻¹ of data recorded by the ATLAS experiment at the LHC in 2017 using events from both the dilepton and single-lepton channels. The combined result is

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}} = 67.5 \pm 0.9 \text{ (stat.)} \pm 2.3 \text{ (syst.)} \pm 1.1 \text{ (lumi.)} \pm 0.2 \text{ (beam) pb},$$

where the four uncertainties are due to the size of the data sample, experimental and theoretical systematic effects, and imperfect knowledge of both the integrated luminosity and the LHC beam energy. The total uncertainty is 2.7 pb, or 3.9%. The result is consistent with the NNLO+NNLL QCD prediction of $68.2^{+5.2}_{-5.3}$ pb and with a previous measurement by the CMS Collaboration, but has a total uncertainty that is almost a factor of two smaller. This measurement provides additional constraints on the gluon distribution of the proton PDF for Bjorken-*x* > 0.05.

References

- M. Cacciari, M. Czakon, M. Mangano, A. Mitov and P. Nason, *Top-pair production at hadron colliders with next-to-next-to-leading logarithmic soft-gluon resummation*, Phys. Lett. B 710 (2012) 612, arXiv: 1111.5869 [hep-ph].
- [2] P. Bärnreuther, M. Czakon and A. Mitov, Percent-Level-Precision Physics at the Tevatron: Nextto-Next-to-Leading Order QCD Corrections to qq̄ → tt̄ + X, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 132001, arXiv: 1204.5201 [hep-ph].
- [3] M. Czakon and A. Mitov, *NNLO corrections to top-pair production at hadron colliders: the all-fermionic scattering channels*, JHEP **12** (2012) 054, arXiv: 1207.0236 [hep-ph].
- [4] M. Czakon and A. Mitov, NNLO corrections to top pair production at hadron colliders: the quark-gluon reaction, JHEP 01 (2013) 080, arXiv: 1210.6832 [hep-ph].
- [5] M. Czakon, P. Fiedler and A. Mitov, *Total Top-Quark Pair Production Cross Section at Hadron Colliders Through O*(α_{s}^{4}), Phys. Rev. Lett. **110** (2013) 252004, arXiv: 1303.6254 [hep-ph].
- [6] S. Catani et al., *Top-quark pair hadroproduction at next-to-next-to-leading order in QCD*, Phys. Rev. D **99** (2019) 051501, arXiv: 1901.04005 [hep-ph].
- [7] ATLAS Collaboration, *Measurement of the tī production cross-section using eµ events with b-tagged jets in pp collisions at* \sqrt{s} = 7 *and* 8 *TeV with the ATLAS detector*, Eur. Phys. J. C **74** (2014) 3109, arXiv: 1406.5375 [hep-ex], Addendum: Eur. Phys. J. C **76** (2016) 642.
- [8] ATLAS Collaboration, *Measurement of the inclusive and fiducial tr* production cross-sections in the lepton+jets channel in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 487, arXiv: 1712.06857 [hep-ex].
- [9] ATLAS Collaboration, Measurement of the tī production cross-section and lepton differential distributions in eµ dilepton events from pp collisions at √s = 13 TeV with the ATLAS detector, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 528, arXiv: 1910.08819 [hep-ex].
- [10] ATLAS Collaboration, *Measurement of the tī production cross-section in the lepton+jets channel at* $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ with the ATLAS experiment, Phys. Lett. B **810** (2020) 135797, arXiv: 2006.13076 [hep-ex].
- [11] CMS Collaboration, Measurement of the $t\bar{t}$ production cross section in the $e\mu$ channel in protonproton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, JHEP **08** (2016) 029, arXiv: **1603.02303** [hep-ex].
- [12] CMS Collaboration, Measurements of the tī production cross section in lepton+jets final states in pp collisions at 8 TeV and ratio of 8 to 7 TeV cross sections, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 15, arXiv: 1602.09024 [hep-ex].
- [13] CMS Collaboration, Measurement of the $t\bar{t}$ production cross section using events with one lepton and at least one jet in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, JHEP **09** (2017) 051, arXiv: 1701.06228 [hep-ex].
- [14] CMS Collaboration, Measurement of the $t\bar{t}$ production cross section, the top quark mass, and the strong coupling constant using dilepton events in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C **79** (2019) 368, arXiv: 1812.10505 [hep-ex].
- [15] LHCb Collaboration, First observation of top quark production in the forward region, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 112001, arXiv: 1506.00903 [hep-ex].
- [16] LHCb Collaboration, *Measurement of forward top pair production in the dilepton channel in pp* collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, JHEP **08** (2018) 174, arXiv: **1803.05188** [hep-ex].

- [17] M. Czakon and A. Mitov, *Top++: A program for the calculation of the top-pair cross-section at hadron colliders*, Comput. Phys. Commun. **185** (2014) 2930, arXiv: 1112.5675 [hep-ph].
- [18] J. Butterworth et al., PDF4LHC recommendations for LHC Run II, J. Phys. G 43 (2016) 023001, arXiv: 1510.03865 [hep-ph].
- [19] A. D. Martin, W. J. Stirling, R. S. Thorne and G. Watt, *Parton distributions for the LHC*, Eur. Phys. J. C 63 (2009) 189, arXiv: 0901.0002 [hep-ph].
- [20] A. D. Martin, W. J. Stirling, R. S. Thorne and G. Watt, Uncertainties on α_s in global PDF analyses and implications for predicted hadronic cross sections, Eur. Phys. J. C 64 (2009) 653, arXiv: 0905.3531 [hep-ph].
- [21] H.-L. Lai et al., New parton distributions for collider physics, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 074024, arXiv: 1007.2241 [hep-ph].
- [22] J. Gao et al., CT10 next-to-next-to-leading order global analysis of QCD, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 033009, arXiv: 1302.6246 [hep-ph].
- [23] R. D. Ball et al., Parton distributions with LHC data, Nucl. Phys. B 867 (2013) 244, arXiv: 1207.1303 [hep-ph].
- [24] M. Cacciari, S. Frixione, G. Ridolfi, M. L. Mangano and P. Nason, *The tī cross-section at 1.8 and 1.96 TeV: A study of the systematics due to parton densities and scale dependence*, JHEP 04 (2004) 068, arXiv: hep-ph/0303085.
- [25] S. Catani, D. de Florian, M. Grazzini and P. Nason, Soft-gluon resummation for Higgs boson production at hadron colliders, JHEP 07 (2003) 028, arXiv: hep-ph/0306211.
- [26] CMS Collaboration, Measurement of the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ production cross section in proton–proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02 \text{ TeV}$, JHEP **04** (2021) 144, arXiv: 2112.09114 [hep-ex].
- [27] ATLAS Collaboration, *The ATLAS Experiment at the CERN Large Hadron Collider*, JINST **3** (2008) S08003.
- [28] ATLAS Collaboration, ATLAS Insertable B-Layer: Technical Design Report, ATLAS-TDR-19; CERN-LHCC-2010-013, 2010, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/1291633, Addendum: ATLAS-TDR-19-ADD-1; CERN-LHCC-2012-009, 2012, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/ 1451888.
- [29] B. Abbott et al., Production and Integration of the ATLAS Insertable B-Layer, JINST 13 (2018) T05008, arXiv: 1803.00844 [physics.ins-det].
- [30] ATLAS Collaboration, Performance of the ATLAS trigger system in 2015, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 317, arXiv: 1611.09661 [hep-ex].
- [31] ATLAS Collaboration, *The ATLAS Collaboration Software and Firmware*, ATL-SOFT-PUB-2021-001, 2021, url: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2767187.
- [32] ATLAS Collaboration, *ATLAS data quality operations and performance for 2015–2018 data-taking*, JINST **15** (2020) P04003, arXiv: 1911.04632 [physics.ins-det].
- [33] ATLAS Collaboration, *Performance of electron and photon triggers in ATLAS during LHC Run 2*, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 47, arXiv: 1909.00761 [hep-ex].
- [34] ATLAS Collaboration, *Performance of the ATLAS muon triggers in Run 2*, JINST **15** (2020) P09015, arXiv: 2004.13447 [hep-ex].

- [35] ATLAS Collaboration, Luminosity determination for low-pileup datasets at $\sqrt{s} = 5$ and 13 TeV using the ATLAS detector at the LHC, ATLAS-CONF-2020-023, 2020, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2725195.
- [36] ATLAS Collaboration, *The ATLAS Simulation Infrastructure*, Eur. Phys. J. C 70 (2010) 823, arXiv: 1005.4568 [physics.ins-det].
- [37] S. Agostinelli et al., *GEANT4—A simulation toolkit*, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A **506** (2003) 250.
- [38] T. Sjöstrand, S. Mrenna and P. Z. Skands, A brief introduction to PYTHIA 8.1, Comput. Phys. Commun. 178 (2008) 852, arXiv: 0710.3820 [hep-ph].
- [39] ATLAS Collaboration, The Pythia 8 A3 tune description of ATLAS minimum bias and inelastic measurements incorporating the Donnachie–Landshoff diffractive model, ATL-PHYS-PUB-2016-017, 2016, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2206965.
- [40] S. Frixione, G. Ridolfi and P. Nason, *A positive-weight next-to-leading-order Monte Carlo for heavy flavour hadroproduction*, JHEP **09** (2007) 126, arXiv: **0707.3088** [hep-ph].
- [41] P. Nason, A new method for combining NLO QCD with shower Monte Carlo algorithms, JHEP 11 (2004) 040, arXiv: hep-ph/0409146.
- [42] S. Frixione, P. Nason and C. Oleari, *Matching NLO QCD computations with parton shower simulations: the POWHEG method*, JHEP 11 (2007) 070, arXiv: 0709.2092 [hep-ph].
- [43] S. Alioli, P. Nason, C. Oleari and E. Re, A general framework for implementing NLO calculations in shower Monte Carlo programs: the POWHEG BOX, JHEP 06 (2010) 043, arXiv: 1002.2581 [hep-ph].
- [44] R. D. Ball et al., *Parton distributions for the LHC run II*, JHEP **04** (2015) 040, arXiv: **1410.8849** [hep-ph].
- [45] ATLAS Collaboration, ATLAS Pythia 8 tunes to 7 TeV data, ATL-PHYS-PUB-2014-021, 2014, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/1966419.
- [46] ATLAS Collaboration, *Studies on top-quark Monte Carlo modelling for Top2016*, ATL-PHYS-PUB-2016-020, 2016, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2216168.
- [47] M. Bähr et al., *Herwig++ physics and manual*, Eur. Phys. J. C 58 (2008) 639, arXiv: 0803.0883 [hep-ph].
- [48] J. Bellm et al., Herwig 7.0/Herwig++ 3.0 release note, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 196, arXiv: 1512.01178 [hep-ph].
- [49] J. Alwall et al., The automated computation of tree-level and next-to-leading order differential cross sections, and their matching to parton shower simulations, JHEP 07 (2014) 079, arXiv: 1405.0301 [hep-ph].
- [50] D. J. Lange, The EvtGen particle decay simulation package, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 462 (2001) 152.
- [51] R. Frederix, E. Re and P. Torrielli, *Single-top t-channel hadroproduction in the four-flavour scheme with POWHEG and aMC@NLO*, JHEP **09** (2012) 130, arXiv: 1207.5391 [hep-ph].
- [52] E. Re, Single-top Wt-channel production matched with parton showers using the POWHEG method, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1547, arXiv: 1009.2450 [hep-ph].
- [53] S. Frixione, E. Laenen, P. Motylinski, C. D. White and B. R. Webber, *Single-top hadroproduction in association with a W boson*, JHEP **07** (2008) 029, arXiv: **0805.3067** [hep-ph].

- [54] LHC top working group, *NLO single-top channel cross-sections*, URL: https://twiki.cern.ch/ twiki/bin/view/LHCPhysics/SingleTopRefXsec.
- [55] N. Kidonakis, *Two-loop soft anomalous dimensions for single top quark associated production with* $a W^- or H^-$, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 054018, arXiv: 1005.4451 [hep-ph].
- [56] N. Kidonakis, Top Quark Production, in Proceedings, Helmholtz International Summer School on Physics of Heavy Quarks and Hadrons (HQ 2013): JINR, Dubna, Russia, July 15-28, 2013, (2014), arXiv: 1311.0283 [hep-ph].
- [57] M. Aliev et al., HATHOR: HAdronic Top and Heavy quarks crOss section calculatoR, Comput. Phys. Commun. 182 (2011) 1034, arXiv: 1007.1327 [hep-ph].
- [58] C. D. White, S. Frixione, E. Laenen and F. Maltoni, *Isolating Wt production at the LHC*, JHEP 11 (2009) 074, arXiv: 0908.0631 [hep-ph].
- [59] E. Bothmann et al., Event Generation with Sherpa 2.2, SciPost Phys. 7 (2019) 034, arXiv: 1905.
 09127 [hep-ph].
- [60] C. Anastasiou, L. Dixon, K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, *High-precision QCD at hadron colliders: Electroweak gauge boson rapidity distributions at next-to-next-to-leading order*, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 094008, arXiv: hep-ph/0312266.
- [61] T. Gleisberg et al., Event generation with SHERPA 1.1, JHEP 02 (2009) 007, arXiv: 0811.4622 [hep-ph].
- [62] ATLAS Collaboration, *Measurement of the* $t\bar{t}Z$ and $t\bar{t}W$ cross sections in proton–proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. D **99** (2019) 072009, arXiv: 1901.03584 [hep-ex].
- [63] ATLAS Collaboration, *Electron and photon performance measurements with the ATLAS detector using the 2015–2017 LHC proton–proton collision data*, JINST 14 (2019) P12006, arXiv: 1908.
 00005 [hep-ex].
- [64] ATLAS Collaboration, *Muon reconstruction and identification efficiency in ATLAS using the full Run 2 pp collision data set at* $\sqrt{s} = 13$ *TeV*, Eur. Phys. J. C **81** (2021) 578, arXiv: 2012.00578 [hep-ex].
- [65] M. Cacciari, G. P. Salam and G. Soyez, *The anti-k_t jet clustering algorithm*, JHEP 04 (2008) 063, arXiv: 0802.1189 [hep-ph].
- [66] M. Cacciari, G. P. Salam and G. Soyez, *FastJet user manual*, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 1896, arXiv: 1111.6097 [hep-ph].
- [67] ATLAS Collaboration, *Jet reconstruction and performance using particle flow with the ATLAS Detector*, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 466, arXiv: 1703.10485 [hep-ex].
- [68] ATLAS Collaboration, Jet energy scale and resolution measured in proton–proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, Eur. Phys. J. C **81** (2020) 689, arXiv: 2007.02645 [hep-ex].
- [69] ATLAS Collaboration, Performance of pile-up mitigation techniques for jets in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV using the ATLAS detector, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 581, arXiv: 1510.03823 [hep-ex].
- [70] ATLAS Collaboration, ATLAS b-jet identification performance and efficiency measurement with $t\bar{t}$ events in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C **79** (2019) 970, arXiv: 1907.05120 [hep-ex].

- [71] ATLAS Collaboration, Performance of missing transverse momentum reconstruction with the ATLAS detector using proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C **78** (2018) 903, arXiv: 1802.08168 [hep-ex].
- [72] ATLAS Collaboration, Selection of jets produced in 13 TeV proton–proton collisions with the ATLAS detector, ATLAS-CONF-2015-029, 2015, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2037702.
- [73] ATLAS Collaboration, *Estimation of non-prompt and fake lepton backgrounds in final states with top quarks produced in proton–proton collisions at* $\sqrt{s} = 8$ *TeV with the ATLAS Detector*, ATLAS-CONF-2014-058, 2014, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/1951336.
- [74] A. Hoecker et al., *TMVA Toolkit for Multivariate Data Analysis*, 2009, arXiv: physics/0703039 [physics.data-an].
- [75] G. C. Fox and S. Wolfram, Observables for the Analysis of Event Shapes in e⁺e⁻ Annihilation and Other Processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 41 (23 1978) 1581, URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.41.1581.
- [76] ATLAS Collaboration, Measurements of inclusive and differential fiducial cross-sections of $t\bar{t}$ production with additional heavy-flavour jets in proton–proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 04 (2019) 046, arXiv: 1811.12113 [hep-ex].
- [77] C. F. Berger et al., Precise Predictions for W + 4-Jet Production at the Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (9 2011) 092001, URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 106.092001.
- [78] J. M. Campbell and R. K. Ellis, *MCFM for the Tevatron and the LHC*, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 205-206 (2010) 10, arXiv: 1007.3492 [hep-ph].
- [79] ATLAS Collaboration, *Measurement of b-tagging efficiency of c-jets in tī events using a likelihood approach with the ATLAS detector*, ATLAS-CONF-2018-001, 2018, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2306649.
- [80] ATLAS Collaboration, Calibration of light-flavour b-jet mistagging rates using ATLAS protonproton collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, ATLAS-CONF-2018-006, 2018, uRL: https://cds.cern. ch/record/2314418.
- [81] ATLAS Collaboration, Luminosity determination in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV using the ATLAS detector at the LHC, ATLAS-CONF-2019-021, 2019, URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2677054.
- [82] G. Avoni et al., The new LUCID-2 detector for luminosity measurement and monitoring in ATLAS, JINST 13 (2018) P07017.
- [83] E. Todesco and J. Wenninger, *Large Hadron Collider momentum calibration and accuracy*, Phys. Rev. Accel. Beams 20 (2017) 081003.
- [84] J. Kieseler, A method and tool for combining differential or inclusive measurements obtained with simultaneously constrained uncertainties, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017), URL: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1140/epjc/s10052-017-5345-0.
- [85] S. Dulat et al., New parton distribution functions from a global analysis of quantum chromodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 033006, arXiv: 1506.07443 [hep-ph].
- [86] R. D. Ball et al., Parton distributions from high-precision collider data, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 663, arXiv: 1706.00428 [hep-ph].

- [87] M. Botje et al., *The PDF4LHC Working Group Interim Recommendations*, (2011), arXiv: 1101.0538 [hep-ph].
- [88] S. Bailey, T. Cridge, L. A. Harland-Lang, A. D. Martin and R. S. Thorne, *Parton distributions from LHC, HERA, Tevatron and fixed target data: MSHT20 PDFs*, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 341, arXiv: 2012.04684 [hep-ph].
- [89] R. D. Ball et al., *The path to proton structure at 1% accuracy*, Eur. Phys. J. C 82 (2022) 428, arXiv: 2109.02653 [hep-ph].
- [90] S. Alekhin, J. Bluemlein, S. Moch and R. Placakyte, *Parton distribution functions*, α_s , and heavyquark masses for LHC Run II, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 014011, arXiv: 1701.05838 [hep-ph].
- [91] T.-J. Hou et al., *New CTEQ global analysis of quantum chromodynamics with high-precision data from the LHC*, Phys. Rev. D **103** (2021) 014013, arXiv: 1912.10053 [hep-ph].
- [92] ATLAS Collaboration, *Determination of the parton distribution functions of the proton using diverse* ATLAS data from pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7,8$ and 13 TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C **82** (2022) 438, arXiv: 2112.11266 [hep-ex].
- [93] H1 and ZEUS Collaborations, Combination of Measurements of Inclusive Deep Inelastic e[±]p Scattering Cross Sections and QCD Analysis of HERA Data, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 580, arXiv: 1506.06042 [hep-ex].
- [94] S. Alekhin et al., *HERAFitter, Open Source QCD Fit Project*, Eur. Phys. J. C **75** (2015) 304, arXiv: 1410.4412 [hep-ph].